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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA



         IN THE OFFICE OF









ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS

COUNTY OF NEW HANOVER




  10 ABC 2659

______________________________________________________________________
ALPHA 3 ENTERPRISES, LLC

)

T/A THE LIQUID ROOM,


)







)


Petitioner,



)








)


vs.




)


DECISION







)

N.C. ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE

)

CONTROL COMMISSION,


)







)


Respondent.



)

______________________________________________________________________

On June 15, 2010 and June 16, 2010, Administrative Law Judge Melissa Owens Lassiter heard this contested case pursuant to Petitioner’s request for an expedited hearing.  Having heard and considered the evidence presented and the arguments of counsel, the Court finds the following:
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Justin Davis
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Guthrie Davis Henderson & Staton





719 East Blvd.





Charlotte, NC 28203-5113

For Respondent:
Timothy W Morse





Asst. Counsel





NC ABC Commission




4307 Mail Service Center





Raleigh, NC 27699-4307
ISSUE


Whether Petitioner is qualified to hold permanent on-premise Malt Beverage, Unfortified Wine, and Mixed Beverage Private Club ABC permits for which it has applied?
EXHIBITS ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE


For Petitioner:
1 – 14, 16 – 26

For Respondent:
1, 2, 3a, 3b
WITNESSES AT HEARING

For Petitioner:
ALE Special Agent Supervisor Ted Carlton ("Supervisor Carlton"), ALE Special Agent Meredith Scott Price ("Agent Price"), Lee Hauser ("Hauser"), and Nathan Mitchell ("Mitchell").

For Respondent:
Maria Dimopoulos ("Dimopoulos"), Brandon Passmore ("Passmore"), and ALE Special Agent Thomas Bissette ("Agent Bissette").  

FINDINGS OF FACT


Based upon the preponderance of the evidence presented at hearing, the official record in this case, and a determination of the credibility of witnesses testifying at hearing, the undersigned finds:

Background Facts

1.
Petitioner is a North Carolina Limited Liability Company whose members are Lee Hauser, Jr., Nathan Mitchell, and Shawn Booth.


2.
Since October 28, 2009, Petitioner has owned and operated a business trading as “The Liquid Room,” a private club located at 23 Market Street, Wilmington, North Carolina 28401.  
3.
From October 28, 2009 until May 6, 2010, Petitioner held temporary on-premise Malt Beverage, Unfortified Wine, and Mixed Beverages Private Club permits.

4.
On May 6, 2010, Respondent delivered a letter to Petitioner summarily revoking Petitioner's temporary ABC permits, because “On May 3, 2010, we were notified numerous ABC violations have occurred at this establishment.”  

5.
On May 14, 2010, Petitioner filed a completed petition for a contested case hearing with the Office of Administrative Hearings appealing Respondent’s suspension of its temporary ABC permits, and requesting Respondent return Petitioner’s temporary ABC permits until a hearing may be held to determine a final outcome.   


6.
On May 28, 2010, Respondent served Petitioner with an Official Notice Of Rejection of Petitioner's permit application for permanent On-Premise Malt Beverage, Unfortified Wine, and Mixed Beverage Private Club permits.  Respondent rejected such permit application as:
Evidence tending to show that the applicant would not comply with the ABC laws, as shown by the activities described below, relevant under NCGS 18B-901(c)(8), to wit:
1.
Permittee’s employee, Vincent Tyler Murphy, sold a mixed beverage to Marjorie Whitney, a person less than 21 years of age, on the license premises, on or about January 5, 2010 at 1:28 AM, in violation of NCGS  § 18B-302(a)(2).

2.
Permittee’s employee, Vincent Tyler Murphy, performed services while and after consuming alcoholic beverages, on the licensed premises, on or about January 5, 2010 at 1:28 AM, in violation of ABC Commission Rule 4 NCAC 2S .0212(a). 

3.
Permittee’s employee, Vincent Tyler Murphy, sold alcoholic beverages to Marjorie Whitney, an intoxicated person, on the licensed premises, on or about January 5, 2010 at 1:28 AM, in violation of NCGS  18B-305(a). 
4.
Permittee’s employees knowingly allowed violations of Chapter 18B of the General Statutes to occur on the licensed premises, to wit: underage sale, sale to intoxicated and employee consuming, on or about January 5, 2010 at 1:28 AM, in violation of NCGS  18B-1005(a)(1).

5.
Permittee failed to superintend in person or through a manager[,] the business for which an ABC permit is issued, to wit; during the time period when the violations of the ABC laws took place on the licensed premises, only two employees were on duty, one at the door and another at the bar, on or about January 5, 2010 at 1:28 AM, in violation of NCGS  18B-1005(b).  
Due to the rejection of your application, your temporary permit is revoked.  You may petition for a hearing if you wish to appeal this rejection.  The petition must be filed within sixty days of the date of this letter.  .  .  . 

(Emphasis in original; May 28, 2010 Official Notice of Rejection)


7.
On May 28, 2010, Petitioner filed and served a Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction on Respondent and with the Office of Administrative Hearings.  

8.
On June 2, 2010, after conducting a hearing by telephone, the undersigned entered an Order denying Petitioner's motion.  The undersigned indicated she would schedule an expedited contested case hearing upon the parties’ request, and at the convenience of the parties and their witnesses.  The parties agreed that the Official Notice of Revocation of Petitioner’s ABC permits would be an issue at the contested case hearing. 

9.
On June 2, 2010, Petitioner advised the undersigned that it would be ready for a contested case hearing on June 8, 2010.  
Adjudicated Facts at Hearing


10.
On or about October 28, 2009, Petitioner purchased The Liquid Room for approximately $400,000.00.  The monthly payment on the $360,000.00 note for The Liquid Room is approximately $7,000.00.  The monthly payment on the lease for The Liquid Room is approximately $7,800.00.  Petitioner employs 18 people, not including Mitchell, Hauser, and Booth.

11.
On Monday, January 4, 2010, The Liquid Room was open for business only for persons who were at least 21 years of age.  Petitioner’s practice was that an employee, who was working at the entrance to The Liquid Room, would check a patron’s identification to identify the age of the patron, and place a blue wristband on the wrists of the patrons who were verified to be 21 years of age and older.  

12.
On January 4, 2010, Eric Johnson ("Johnson") was working as doorman and security for The Liquid Room.  He was also working as manager until owner Nathan Mitchell arrived at the business shortly before 11:00 pm.  The Liquid Room had recently hired Eric Johnson.  Johnson had been a doorman at other businesses with numerous years of experience in the downtown nightlife scene.  

13.
Vincent Murphy ("Murphy") worked as the bartender at The Liquid Room throughout the evening of January 4, 2010.  January 4, 2010 was the first night Murphy had bartended by himself at that establishment.  

14.
Around 8:00 pm, on January 4, 2010, Marjorie Whitney ("Whitney"), Maria Dimopoulos ("Dimopoulos"), Brandon Passmore ("Passmore"), and John Lawrence ("Lawrence") went to the Caroline Ale House in Wilmington, NC to watch the University of North Carolina versus College of Charleston basketball game. 


15.
The parties stipulated that Ms. Whitney was 19 years of age on January 4, 2010.

16.
While at the Ale House, Whitney and Dimopoulos each drank diet soda, and shared a kid’s meal.  Ms. Whitney did not drink any alcoholic beverages at the Ale House, because she had a hangover from the night before.  While at the Ale House, Whitney was texting on her cell phone, including texting with Vincent Murphy.  (Dimopoulos testimony)  After receiving a text from Murphy, Whitney sent a text to Murphy, and asked what the drink specials at The Liquid Room were that night.  Murphy responded to Whitney by texting the drink specials at The Liquid Room, concluding his text something to the effect of “and all Vincent all night long.”  (Carlton testimony)  Nothing in the wording of Murphy’s text to Whitney showed that he knew Whitney’s age.  (Carlton testimony)  Whitney told Dimopoulos that a friend was working at The Liquid Room that night.  (Dimopoulos testimony)  

17.
Around 9:45 pm, Whitney, Dimopoulos, Passmore, and Lawrence decided to leave the Ale House, and go play pool at The Liquid Room. 
18.
Passmore and Lawrence went directly to The Liquid Room, and arrived before Whitney and Dimopoulos.  When Passmore and Lawrence arrived at The Liquid Room, Eric Johnson checked each of their North Carolina Driver's Licenses with the use of a flashlight.  Both Passmore and Lawrence were at least 21 years of age.  Johnson placed a blue wristband on Passmore and Lawrence, indicating that their identification had been checked, and that they were at least 21 years of age.  Passmore and Lawrence then purchased beer at the bar.  
19.
Around 10:10 or 10:15 pm, Whitney and Dimopoulos arrived at The Liquid Room.  Passmore noticed that Whitney and Dimopoulos had changed clothes after leaving the Ale House, and before arriving at The Liquid Room, as both were wearing different clothes than they had been wearing at the Ale House. 
20.
When Whitney and Dimopoulos arrived, Johnson checked each of their photo identification cards with the use of a flashlight.  Whitney presented a valid Virginia Driver's License to Johnson.  While the Virginia Driver’s license was not issued to Whitney, it depicted a photograph that contained a physical description that reasonably described and resembled Whitney.  
a.
The physical description on the ID presented is of a female, 5 feet 6 inches tall with brown eyes.  The Virginia Driver’s License photograph is a black and white photograph of a female with shoulder length brown hair.  At the time, Ms. Whitney was 5 feet 7 inches tall, with green eyes, and shoulder length blonde hair with darker colored hair at the roots.  Although the female’s hair in the Virginia Driver’s License photograph was darker than Ms. Whitney’s hair color on January 4, 2010, Ms. Whitney’s hair color at the roots was similar to the hair color of the female in the Virginia Driver’s License. 
b.
Whitney’s facial structure, as depicted in Whitney’s NC driver’s license and her Facebook photos, showed a striking resemblance to the facial structure of the female depicted on the Virginia Driver’s License.      
21.
Dimopoulos also presented a valid, but false, North Carolina Driver's License, to Johnson.  That false identification did not display Dimopoulos’ photography, but contained a photograph that Dimopoulos thought, “looked like her.”  (Dimopoulos’ testimony).  Johnson placed a blue wristband on Whitney and Dimopoulos indicating that their identifications had been checked, and that they were at least 21 years of age.

22.
After entering The Liquid Room, Whitney and Dimopoulos went to the bar and ordered a beer.  The bartender, Vincent Murphy, served a beer to Whitney and a beer to Dimopoulos.  Murphy neither asked for nor checked any identification of Whitney or Dimopoulos before serving beer to them.  Whitney and Dimopoulos were wearing their blue wristbands when they ordered their beers.  
23.
Whitney and Dimopoulos joined Passmore and Lawrence at the pool table, and began playing pool and socializing.

24.
While playing pool, Whitney and Dimopoulos returned to the bar together, three or four times.  Whitney ordered, was served, and consumed a total of three or four beers while at The Liquid Room.  
25.
During one trip to the bar, Dimopoulos heard Whitney ask Vincent Murphy to make her a shot.  Murphy asked “What kind?” Whitney responded, “Surprise me.”  Murphy poured liquid from a tall glass bottle into a small plastic cup for Whitney, and Whitney drank it.  Whitney also ordered and received a beer from Murphy.  Dimopoulos ordered, and received a beer.  Whitney and Dimopoulos returned to the bar three or four times.  Each time Whitney and Dimopoulos returned to the bar, Whitney ordered, received, and consumed a beer and a shot.  At hearing, Dimopoulos acknowledged that she could not see what alcohol was poured into the small plastic cup.  (Tpp 28-32, 62-66)  The evidence at hearing showed that The Liquid Room served a shot of spirituous liquor in small plastic cups.   

a.
Dimopoulos opined that Whitney consumed “at least four beers and three shots” at The Liquid Room.  She admitted that she [Dimopoulos] consumed three beers and one shot at The Liquid Room, and “was in no shape to drive.  I don’t think you should drive after one beer, but I wasn’t stumbling.”  (Tpp 31, 63)
b.
In contrast to Dimopoulos’ testimony at hearing, Passmore initially estimated that Whitney drank 4-5 beers, 2-3 mixed drinks, and 2-3 shots at The Liquid Room.  Passmore explained that he saw Whitney and Dimopoulos buy one beer and one shot apiece at their second trip to the bar.  Passmore observed Murphy pour liquid from a liquor bottle into a cup, shake it up, and pour the liquid into a shot cup.  He estimated that Ms. Dimopoulos drank three beers and two shots at The Liquid Room, however, Whitney drank more than Dimopoulos.

c.
However, on cross-examination, Passmore acknowledged that he did not actually count the number of drinks that Whitney drank at The Liquid Room, but just estimated.  Neither did he know for sure that Whitney actually drank mixed drinks at The Liquid Room.  

d.
Passmore also explained that he saw Whitney, Dimopoulos, and Murphy toast each other with the shots, like saying “Cheers,” and drink.  Passmore saw Murphy take a liquor bottle from behind the bar, pour the liquor into a cup, shake it up, and pour that liquid into three shot cups.  The liquid in the cups was a bluish green tinted color.  He did not taste the drink in the shot cups, but thought it was a Kamikaze.  He drank three beers and two mixed drinks at The Liquid Room.  In contrast, Dimopoulos denied drinking a shot with Whitney and Vincent Murphy at The Liquid Room when they first arrived.  
26.
Dimopoulos paid cash for her beers and shot[s] at The Liquid Room that night.  Dimopoulos saw Whitney throw a couple of dollars on the bar as payment for her drinks, but did not think Whitney paid for all her drinks at The Liquid Room.  One particular time, Dimopoulos heard Whitney tell Murphy, “Don’t charge me for this one,” Murphy winked at Whitney, and Whitney did not pay for her drink.  Passmore saw Whitney and Dimopoulos give cash to Murphy after ordering their drinks.  Based on his observation, Passmore assumed they paid for their drinks.  Other evidence at hearing showed that Murphy kept a cash tab on the drinks Whitney ordered by making tick marks on a sheet of paper.  The tab sheet documented two beers and one shot or mixed beverage.  
27.
After 1 to 1½ hours of drinking, Whitney continued playing pool, but started missing the ball with the pool stick.  Passmore thought Whitney played worse the longer the night went one.  By this time, Passmore described Whitney’s appearance as definitely different from when Whitney first arrived at The Liquid Room, a little glassy eyed, and slurred words a little bit.  (Passmore, direct examination)  
28.
According to Dimopoulos, at that point, you could tell that Whitney had been drinking, and did not have control over her body playing pool.  Whitney was loud, cracking jokes, and being silly.  Dimopoulos would not ride with Whitney because Whitney had been drinking.  Although Dimopoulos noted on cross-examination, that Whitney was an extrovert who smiled, talked, cracked jokes, and got loud.  Whitney was wearing 3-4 inch heels at The Liquid Room on January 4, 2010.  Whitney could not walk in heels, but you could tell she had been drinking after she tried to walk in heels that night.  Since Whitney was drunk, she was wobbly and scooting along.  (Dimopoulos cross-examination)  During her interview with ALE Agent Bissette, Dimopoulos described Whitney as being too intoxicated to drive.  Dimopoulos opined that based on Whitney’s condition, the way she was walking, and being loud, a stranger would have thought she was drunk.  (Dimopoulos testimony)
29.
Between 10:00 pm and 11:00 pm, additional unknown patrons arrived at The Liquid Room.  
30.
At hearing, Dimopoulos estimated that the pool table area was located approximately 10 feet from the bar in The Liquid Room.  However, there was no competent evidence presented at hearing showing the physical layout of The Liquid Room, or showing the location and distance of the pool table area in relation to the bar area.  In addition, there was no evidence presented that Murphy could see Whitney, Dimopoulos, Passmore, and Lawrence as they played pool, or that Murphy saw Whitney as she played pool.  
31.
The preponderance of the evidence at hearing showed that Whitney knew Vincent Murphy before January 4, 2010.  As described earlier, Whitney told Dimopoulos that a friend was working at The Liquid Room that night, and Whitney and Murphy had communicated via text messaging regarding the drink specials being served at The Liquid Room that night.  Dimopoulos figured that Whitney and Vincent Murphy were friends based on the conversation between them.  Whitney flirted with Murphy as she talked with him, and ordered drinks from him at the bar.  
32.
At approximately 10:45 p.m., Petitioner’s Nathan Mitchell arrived at The Liquid Room.  There were approximately 10 patrons in the club at that time, in addition to Passmore, Lawrence, Whitney, and Dimopoulos.  
33.
At approximately 11:00 p.m., Whitney, Dimopoulos, Passmore, and Lawrence decided they would leave The Liquid Room, and go to Rize.  Rize is another ABC permitted establishment in downtown Wilmington that is located down the block from The Liquid Room.  Promptly after this decision was made, Passmore and Lawrence left The Liquid Room.  Whitney and Dimopoulos remained at The Liquid Room, and continued playing pool.  
34.
At approximately 11:20 or 11:30 p.m., Whitney and Dimopoulos left The Liquid Room, and walked down the street to Rize.  As Whitney was leaving The Liquid Room, Eric Johnson asked Whitney if she was okay.  Whitney said, “I’m fine.”  Johnson observed Whitney walk out the door with a straight gait.  He never saw her again.     

35.
When Whitney and Dimopoulos arrived at Rize, there was a long line of persons standing outside the establishment, waiting to enter Rize.  
36.
The evidence at hearing established that employees of Rize knew Whitney.  Accordingly, when Whitney and Dimopoulos walked to the front of the line, they were gained entry ahead of others who were waiting in line.  

37.
Dimopoulos showed her NC driver’s license to the doorman at Rize, and received X marks on her hands.  Whitney did not receive X marks on her hands, but was given a "VIP over 21" bracelet by the doorman.  Rize was operating at or near capacity.  
38.
After entering Rize, Whitney and Dimopoulos walked through the crowd to the third floor, and sat down on the couches.  Dimopoulos and Whitney stayed together on the third floor of Rize for approximately 20 to 30 minutes.  Dimopoulos then noticed that Whitney was no longer beside her.  
39.
After approximately another 10 minutes, Dimopoulos began looking for Whitney, but was unable to locate her.  While looking for Whitney, Dimopoulos saw Passmore on the third floor of Rize, and asked if he had seen Whitney.  Passmore had not.  According to Passmore, Whitney texted Passmore around 12:15 a.m. that she was located on the second floor.  Passmore did not want to move from the couches on the third floor, so he did not go find Whitney.   
40.
Dimopoulos searched for Whitney for approximately 30 or 45 minutes, but did not find her.  Dimopoulos never saw Whitney again.  
41.
Whitney’s actions and conduct, while away from Dimopoulos at Rize, are unknown.   

42.
At approximately 1:28  or 1:30 am on January 5, 2010, Whitney drove her car at approximately 100 mph on Carolina Beach Road, and crashed her car into the rear-end of another vehicle near Raleigh Road.  Whitney was ejected from the car, and died.  Ms. Whitney’s death is an unfortunate tragedy, especially for Whitney’s family and friends.  

43.
Earlier in the evening of January 4, 2010, Dimopoulos and Whitney had arranged for Dimopoulos’ brother to drive them home.  Dimopoulos rode with her brother home, and saw the wreck involving Whitney on the way home.  It was a ten-minute ride from Rize to the location of Whitney’s wreck.   


44.
The January 22, 2010 Toxicology Report from the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner indicated that Whitney's blood alcohol concentration was 480 mg/dl or .48.  The Medical Examiner’s Report noted that Ms. Whitney was wearing three wristbands (blue, white, and black) on one wrist, and a white band on her other wrist at the time of her death.  (Pet Exh 17)  
45.
A preponderance of the evidence at hearing showed that Ms. Whitney's conduct on the evening of January 4, and in the early morning hours of January 5, 2010 was  consistent with her conduct on prior occasions.  Ms. Whitney regularly consumed alcohol, both spirituous liquor and beer, and regularly became drunk throughout her years in high school.  Ms. Dimopoulos saw Ms. Whitney drunk more than twenty times during their high school years.  After she began college, Ms. Whitney’s drinking worsened.  (Dimopoulos testimony)  

46.
Whitney’s decision to drive on January 5, 2010, after consuming alcohol, was not the first time Ms. Whitney made that unfortunate decision.  In 2007, when Whitney was 17 years old, she was arrested for Driving While Impaired in New Hanover County.  
47.
A preponderance of the evidence also proved that Ms. Whitney regularly visited bars in the downtown Wilmington area, and regularly used a false identification to buy and drink alcohol in those establishments.  
48. 
On January 4, 2010, Ms. Whitney acted consistently with her prior behavior by using a valid Virginia driver’s license to enter The Liquid Room, obtain a wristband that indicated she was at least 21 years of age, and purchase beer from The Liquid Room.  While the Virginia driver’s license was not issued to Whitney, the photograph depicted on the driver’s license contained a physical description that reasonably described and resembled Whitney. 
49.
After receiving a complaint concerning Ms. Whitney’s fatal accident, Alcohol Law Enforcement (ALE) and the Wilmington Police Department investigated the events on January 4 and 5, 2010, which preceded Whitney’s accident.  ALE Special Agent Thomas Bissette was the lead investigator.

50.
During his investigation, Agent Bissette interviewed everyone he determined had contact with Ms. Whitney on January 4, 2010, including staff who worked at The Liquid Room on January 4, 2010.  Bissette also examined Whitney’s cell phone and wristbands found at Whitney’s accident scene, the accident report from Wilmington Police Department, and cell phone records.  The Wilmington Police Department verbally advised Agent Bissette of Whitney’s prior criminal history.  Bissette also spoke with Mr. Nadal, the owner of Rize, concerning Ms. Whitney.  Nadal saw Whitney at Rize on January 4, 2010, but declined to serve her that night, because she always wanted free drinks.  
51.
Bissette and Carlton discussed whether to question employees at Rize.  They decided not to interview any employees of Rize, because their investigation did not indicate Whitney drank at Rize on January 4, 2010.  (Carlton testimony)  At hearing, Bissette acknowledged that during his investigation, he did not learn that: (1) Whitney and Dimopoulos changed clothes after they left the Ale House, and (2) Whitney and Dimopoulos did not arrive at The Liquid Room until approximately 30-45 minutes after they left the Ale House.  (Bissette testimony)    
52.
On or about May 6, 2010, Agent Bissette submitted a violation report of his investigation into this matter to Respondent Commission.  

53.
Since October 28, 2009, agents from ALE have visited The Liquid Room approximately 40-60 times on approximately 20-30 days.  None of those visits resulted in Agents witnessing any ABC violations.  In other words, the Liquid Room has not been cited for any ABC violations, other than those alleged in this action, since receiving temporary permits on October 28, 2010.  
54.
Since January 4, 2010, ALE has conducted more than three “underage” sting operations in the Wilmington area.  During those operations, ALE sent persons less than 21 years of age into The Liquid Room to attempt to purchase alcoholic beverages. During each occasion, Petitioner’s employees refused to serve alcohol to the “underage” person, and Respondent’s employees escorted the persons off the premises.  



55.
After the ABC Commission summarily revoked Petitioner's permit on May 6, 2010, Petitioner changed its operating procedures.  By email dated May 18, 2010, Petitioner’s Lee Hauser advised ALE Special Agent Bissette that Petitioner had changed its operating procedures.  If Respondent returns a temporary ABC permit to Petitioner, or issues permanent ABC permits to Petitioner, then Petitioner will operate its business in accordance with those new operating procedures.  
56.
Petitioner’s new operating procedures include: (1) allowing only patrons who are 21 years of age and over into the club, (2) requiring patrons show two forms of identification (one photo ID and one other form of identification such as a credit card) before entering the club, (3) requiring verification from an employee that he or she has completed an online ABC training course within 3 months before starting work, and (4) discontinuing the wristband process as all patrons would be 21 years or older.  The bartender is required to ask for identification before selling alcohol, and must receive identification from a patron who starts a credit card tab.  Two forms of identification will combat and minimize the use of valid, but false forms of photo identification by underage persons.  The Liquid Room would establish monthly or quarterly meetings with ALE, or an ABC representative, to receive continued training in the safe and lawful service of alcohol.  

57.
At hearing, Agent Bissette acknowledged that no other clubs or bars in Wilmington are doing what The Liquid Room has proposed.  Agent Bissette agreed that Petitioner’s proposed new policies would enhance efforts to curb underage drinking. He agreed that it would be beneficial if other bars would do what The Liquid Room intends to do.

58.
ALE Supervisor Ted Carlton explained at hearing that there is a political movement in Wilmington to decrease the number of bars in the downtown area. Carlton acknowledged that the violations cited in the Official Notice of Rejection are solely based on events, which occurred on or about January 4, 2010 and January 5, 2010.  

59.
Supervisor Carlton verified that The Liquid Room has not been cited for any other alleged violations or complaints, other than the January 4, 2010 incident, since it obtained its temporary permit on October 28, 2009.  

60.
Carlton explained that underage consumption of alcohol is a problem in the downtown Wilmington clubs.  Clubs in downtown Wilmington allow underage females into their businesses to attract male customers, and thus, attract more business.  During the April 2010 Azalea Festival in Wilmington, approximately 200 violations, or charges were issued, with approximately 70% of them being alcohol-related violations.  None of those 200 violations was issued to The Liquid Room.  

61.
With respect to the incident involving Ms. Whitney, Supervisor Carlton opined that there is no evidence that Vincent Murphy, the bartender at The Liquid Room, knew Ms. Whitney’s age or knew that Whitney was under 21 years of age on January 4, 2010.   
62.
Supervisor Carlton acknowledged that he has no training in toxicology.  However, as an ALE Agent, Supervisor Carlton has arrested persons for Driving While Intoxicated.  Signs that a person is intoxicated include odor of alcohol, very incoherent, and being so intoxicated that you do not have to conduct any sobriety tests on the person.  
a.
Carlton acknowledged that there is no evidence in the ALE investigative report showing Ms. Whitney exhibited these specific characteristics of intoxication while she was at The Liquid Room on January 4, 2010.  
b.
Further, Carlton acknowledged there was no evidence in the ALE investigative report proving that Respondent’s bartender, Vincent Murphy, saw Whitney exhibiting signs of intoxication at The Liquid Room on January 4, 2010.  In his experience, seven alcoholic drinks are not equal to, or amount to, a .48 Blood Alcohol Content.   

63.
On April 29, 2010, Supervisor Carlton sent an email to Respondent about ALE’s investigation into The Liquid Room.  In that email, Carlton noted in part:

The Liquid Room is on temperatures at this time and they are a problem location for us.  We feel a summary suspension is in order.  

This suspension would make a statement we desperately need to make in our enforcement for downtown Wilmington.  

(Pet Exh 16) 


64.
At hearing, Carlton explained that the only reason he called The Liquid Room a “problem location” in that email, was due to Petitioner’s negligent providing of alcohol to Marjorie Whitney.  Carlton asked Respondent to suspend Petitioner’s temporary ABC permits summarily, until ALE thoroughly looked into the January 4, 2010 events, and completed their investigation into that incident.  A summary suspension was fair, as “we didn’t want it to happen again.”  He noted that what happens will influence other locations, and will set a precedent.  (Carlton, direct examination testimony) 
65.
Supervisor Carlton opined that if The Liquid Room is given permits, he thinks The Liquid Room will comply with the law.  Carlton did not recall a case when Respondent has denied issuing permanent ABC permits to an applicant for receiving one violation for selling alcohol to a person less than 21 years of age. 

66. 
At hearing, Petitioner’s Hauser and Mitchell explained the policies and procedures of The Liquid Room that were in place on January 4 and 5, 2010.  Before the evening of January 4, 2010, an outside consultant on ABC laws provided their employees with training on matters such as lawful service of alcohol, checking and identifying valid forms of identification, and looking for signs of intoxication, including overserving.  The number of drinks sold in a timeframe is an indicator of intoxication.  After Petitioner received the ALE investigative report in this matter, Petitioner terminated Mr. Murphy’s employment.  
67.
The ALE investigative report was attached to Respondent’s Prehearing Statement filed with the Office of Administrative Hearings.  However, the ALE report was not admitted into evidence at the contested case hearing, and as such, is not considered as substantive evidence in this case.  The ALE investigative report was only considered to either corroborate or contradict testimony of witnesses at hearing in determining witnesses’ credibility.  
68.
While recognizing the investigative nature of the ALE report, the undersigned notes the evidentiary problems in the ALE report itself.  Many of the statements in the ALE report contain unreliable hearsay statements.  In addition, many of the statements in the ALE report contradict the hearing testimony of Ms. Dimopoulos, Mr. Passmore, and other persons interviewed by ALE.  
69.
The statement by Vincent Murphy to Agent Bissette is not allowed into evidence under Rule 801(d) of the North Carolina Rules of Evidence. (See Hubbard v. Southern R.R., 203 N.C. 675, 166 S.E. 802 (1932)
70.
There was no evidence in the record establishing where Ms. Whitney was from 9:45 pm until 10:10 pm on January 4, 2010 before she entered The Liquid Room, or what she was doing.  There was no evidence in the record establishing the whereabouts or conduct of Ms. Whitney from approximately 12:00 am until 1:15 am on January 4, 2010.  
71.
It is not known if and where Ms. Whitney consumed alcohol, or how much alcohol she consumed before arriving at, or after leaving, The Liquid Room on January 5, 2010.  Specifically, there was no evidence in the record establishing Whitney's alcohol consumption while at Rize.  
72.
There was no evidence in the record showing that any employee of The Liquid Room observed Whitney display any visible signs of intoxication while Whitney was at The Liquid Room or at the time Murphy sold alcohol to Whitney.  

73.
There was no competent evidence in the record establishing that Ms. Whitney consumed sufficient amounts of alcohol at The Liquid Room, so that her blood alcohol concentration was .48 when she purchased alcoholic beverages at The Liquid Room on January 4, 2010.    
74.
Given the inconsistency in testimony between Passmore and Dimopoulos, there was no competent evidence at hearing supporting Respondent's allegation that Murphy, the bartender, consumed alcoholic beverages on the licensed premises on January 4, 2010.  

75.
Evidence at hearing showed that after ALE submitted its investigative report to Respondent, Respondent rejected Petitioner’s ABC permit application.  Petitioner presented evidence of e-mails sent to and received by Respondent about this case.  Yet, there was no evidence in the record establishing what process Respondent goes through to determine whether it will approve or deny an ABC permit application.  Respondent failed to present any evidence establishing what determining factors or standard, other than the ALE violation report, Respondent considered in this case, or in any permit application, in deciding to reject an ABC permit application.  There was no evidence in the record establishing what information, other than the ALE report, Respondent considered in deciding to reject this Petitioner’s permit application for ABC permits.   
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


Based upon the foregoing Findings of Fact, the undersigned concludes as follows:

1. The Office of Administrative Hearings has subject matter and personal jurisdiction over this contested case pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 150B-1 et seq. and N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-1 et seq. 

2.
To the extent the Findings of Fact contain Conclusions of Law, or that the Conclusions of Law are Findings of Fact, they should be so considered without regard to the given labels.

3.
The purpose of Chapter 18B of the North Carolina General Statutes is to establish a uniform system of control over the sale, purpose . . .  consumption, and possession of alcoholic beverages in North Carolina.  N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-100 
4.
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-203 authorizes Respondent to issue ABC permits and impose sanctions against permittees for violating any provision of Chapter 18B.  
5.
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-905 authorizes Respondent to issue and summarily revoke temporary ABC permits “without complying with the provisions of Chapter 150B.”   The undersigned lacks the authority to override Respondent’s discretionary authority, enumerated in N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 905 and 906(a), to summarily revoke temporary ABC permits. 

6.
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-900 et seq. describes the statutory requirements an applicant must meet to qualify and hold an ABC permit.  Specifically, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-901(c) lists the statutory factors Respondent “shall” consider in determining whether an applicant and business location are suitable to hold alcoholic beverage permits including, (8) “any other evidence that would tend to show whether the application would comply with the ABC laws.”  
7.
On May 28, 2010, Respondent rejected Petitioner’s permit application to hold on-premise Malt Beverage, on-premise Unfortified Wine, and Mixed Beverage Private Club permits, based on evidence tending to show Petitioner would not comply with the ABC laws under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-901(c)(8).  

8.
Petitioner must show by a preponderance of the evidence that it qualifies to hold the applied-for ABC permits.  

9.
Respondent must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Petitioner committed the violations listed in the Official Notice of Rejection, and that evidence tends to show Petitioner would not comply with the ABC laws. 

10.
At the outset, Respondent failed to establish by a preponderance of evidence that Petitioner committed any of the ABC violations named in the Official Notice of Rejection on January 5, 2010 at 1:28 a.m.  The facts in this case clearly established that Marjorie Whitney was not inside Petitioner’s establishment at 1:28 am on January 5, 2010, but was involved in a tragic car accident at that time.  In addition, the record is devoid of any amended Notice of Rejection sent to Petitioner that included the sale of malt beverages to Marjorie Whitney on January 4, 2010 as a reason for rejecting Petitioner’s permit application.  
11.
Nevertheless, since Petitioner failed to raise these errors as grounds to reverse Respondent’s rejection of Petitioner’s permit application, Petitioner’s failure to raise those errors is considered a waiver of those arguments.  
Sale to Underage Alleged Violations
12.
Our legislature has reasonably determined that children do not have sufficient maturity and discretion to decide whether to risk their health and safety by consuming alcoholic beverages.  As a result, our legislature enacted N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-302, and made it a criminal act for any person to give alcoholic beverages to children.  (See Mitchell Dissent in Hart v. Ivey, 332 N.C. 299, 305, 420 S.E.2d 174, 178 (1992))
13.
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-302 states that: 

(a)
It shall be unlawful for any person to: 

(1)
Sell malt beverages or unfortified wine to anyone less than 21 years old; or 
  (2)
Sell . . .  mixed beverages to anyone less than 21 years old. 
   .  .  .  

(d)
Defense – It shall be a defense to a violation of subsection (a) of this section if the seller:

(1)
Shows the purchaser produced a driver’s license,  . . . showing his age to be at least the required age for purchase and bearing a physical description of the person named on the card reasonably describing the purchaser; or

(2)
Produces evidence of other facts that reasonably indicated at the time of sale that the purchaser was at least the required age. 

14.
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-101(9) defines malt beverage as:

Beer, lager, malt liquor, ale, port and any other brewed or fermented beverage. . . containing at least one-half of one percent (0.5%) and not more than fifteen percent (15%), alcohol by volume.   
15.
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-101(10) defines “mixed beverage” as either of the following: 

a.
A drink composed in whole or in part of spirituous liquor and served in a quantity less than the quantity contained in a closed package. 

b.
A premixed cocktail served from a closed package containing only one serving. 

16.
On or about January 4, 2010, Marjorie Whitney was a person less than 21 years old.  
17.
At approximately 10:00 pm on January 4, 2010, Ms. Whitney arrived at The Liquid Room, and presented to Respondent’s employee, a valid, but false Virginia Driver's License that was not issued to Whitney.  This Virginia Driver's License depicted a photograph, and contained a physical description that reasonably described and resembled Ms. Whitney.  In reasonable reliance on this driver's license, Respondent’s employee placed a blue bracelet on Whitney’s arm, thus, identifying Ms. Whitney to be a person at least 21 years old and of legal age to purchase alcohol.

18.
After receiving her blue wristband from Respondent’s employee, Ms. Whitney bought three or four malt beverages from Petitioner’s employee at The Liquid Room on January 4, 2010.  Based on this evidence, the preponderance of the evidence showed that Respondent’s employee violated N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-302(a)(1) on January 4, 2010 by selling malt beverages to a person less than 21 years old.  

19.
A preponderance of the evidence showed that Ms. Whitney ordered, bought, and consumed between two and four other unknown beverages, i.e. “shots,” at The Liquid Room on January 4, 2010.  
a.
The evidence in the record showed that after Whitney ordered a shot, Dimopoulos observed Respondent’s bartender poured liquid from a tall glass bottle from the bar into a small plastic cup, and Whitney consumed the shot.  Ms. Dimopoulos admitted that she also drank one or two of these shots.  She and Whitney accompanied each other to the bar, and ordered alcohol almost every time they went to the bar, and witnessed Murphy pour and serve shots to Whitney.  

b.
Passmore observed Murphy pour liquid from a liquor bottle into a cup, shake it up, and pour the liquid into small plastic cups, which Whitney then consumed.  
c.
Evidence established that The Liquid Room served spirituous liquor drinks or shots, in small plastic cups.  
d.
This evidence created a sufficient inference that the type of beverage in the shots Whitney ordered and consumed at The Liquid Room, fit the legal definition of a “mixed beverage” defined in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-101(10).  Based on this evidence, Respondent’s employee violated N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-305(a) on January 4, 2010 by selling a mixed beverage to Marjorie Jean Whitney, a person less than 21 years of age.      

20.
A preponderance of evidence in the record also proved that the sale of malt beverages and mixed beverages to Whitney resulted from Whitney’s unlawful use of a false, but valid Virginia Driver's License, which bore a photograph and physical description reasonably depicting Ms. Whitney.  While Respondent’s employee Vincent Murphy failed to determine Whitney’s identification before selling her malt beverages and mixed beverages, Petitioner had a system in place, upon which Respondent’s bartender relied, that reasonably indicated at the time of sale that Ms. Whitney was at least 21 years of age, and of legal age to buy alcohol.  Based on a preponderance of evidence, Petitioner proved a defense, under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-302(d)(1) and (2), to the January 4, 2010 sales of malt beverages and mixed beverages to Marjorie Whitney, a person less than 21 years of age.  

21.
4 NCAC 2S .0212(a) states:

No permittee or his employees shall consume alcoholic beverages on the licensed premises except under the following conditions:

(1)
The permittee or employee shall be off duty for the remainder of that day or night during which he consumes any alcoholic beverage;

(2)
The permittee or employee shall be out of uniform when uniforms are required to be worn while performing services; and

(3)
The permittee or employee shall not perform services of any nature while or after consuming alcoholic beverages.


22.
Respondent failed to prove that Respondent’s employee, Vincent Murphy, violated 4 NCAC 2S .0212(a) on January 4, 2010.  First, the evidence in the record is inconsistent at best on this alleged violation.  Passmore’s testimony that he saw Murphy consume a shot with Whitney is directly contradicted by Dimopoulos’ testimony that, that she did not observe Murphy consume a shot, when Dimopoulos was standing next to Whitney at that time.  Second, Passmore’s inconsistent testimony on other events of this night, such as the number of drinks Ms. Whitney consumed at The Liquid Room, makes his testimony less believable.  Third, there was no other evidence in the record supporting Passmore’s version that Murphy consumed alcohol at The Liquid Room while working.  As a result, there was insufficient evidence that The Liquid Room's bartender, Murphy, consumed alcoholic beverages on the licensed premises on the date in question.  Accordingly, this alleged violation fails, and is without merit.
23.
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-305(a) states that:

It shall be unlawful for a permittee or his employee or for an ABC store employee to knowingly sell or give alcoholic beverages to any person who is intoxicated.  

24.
In Estate of Mullis v. Monroe Oil Co., 349 N.C. 196, 202, 505 S.E.2d 131, 135 (1998), the Supreme Court held that evidence the defendant knew or should have known a person was “noticeably intoxicated” might include, but is not limited to, such outward signs of intoxication as slurred speech, lack of control over body motions, and an odor of alcohol. Id. at 204, 505 S.E.2d at 136. 


25.
In this case, the evidence showed that Whitney ordered, served, and consumed approximately three or four beers, and between two to four shots of liquor from 10:10 pm until 11:20 or 11:30 pm on January 4, 2010 while at The Liquid Room.  
26.
Yet, there was no evidence in the record establishing Ms. Whitney’s location from 9:45 pm until 10:10 pm on January 4, 2010 before she entered The Liquid Room, or what she was doing.  There was no evidence in the record establishing the whereabouts or conduct of Ms. Whitney from approximately 12:00 am until 1:15 am on January 4, 2010.  It is not known, if and where Ms. Whitney consumed alcohol, or how much alcohol she consumed before arriving at, or after leaving, The Liquid Room on January 4, 2010 and January 5, 2010.  Specifically, there was insufficient credible evidence in the record establishing Whitney's alcohol consumption while at Rize.  
27.
While there was some evidence from Dimopoulos and Passmore regarding Whitney’s condition after consuming alcohol for 1 to 1 ½ hours, there was insufficient evidence establishing that Ms. Whitney was visibly or noticeably intoxicated on January 4, 2010 when she bought alcoholic beverages from Petitioner’s employee.  While Passmore and Dimopoulos described that Whitney started missing the ball with the pool stick after a while at The Liquid Room, there was no evidence establishing that Respondent’s bartender, Vincent Murphy, saw Whitney exhibiting any signs of intoxication at The Liquid Room on January 4, 2010 before or at the time, he sold Whitney alcoholic beverages.      
28.
While the Toxicology Report showed that Whitney’s blood-alcohol concentration some time after her death was 480 mg/dl, there was no evidence that Whitney bought and consumed a sufficient amount of alcohol at The Liquid Room to reach that blood alcohol concentration.  The only evidence on this point was Supervisor Carlton’s agreement that in his experience, seven drinks consumed at one establishment does not equate to a .48 blood alcohol concentration.  In fact, there was no expert testimony as to the amount of alcohol Whitney had to consume to reach a .48 blood alcohol concentration.  

29.
Based on the above, Respondent failed to prove that Petitioner's employee violated N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-305(a) on January 4, 2010 by selling alcoholic beverages to an intoxicated person, Marjorie Whitney.  
30.
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-1005(a)(1) states:

It shall be unlawful for a permittee or his agent or employee to knowingly allow any of the following kinds of conduct to occur on his licensed premises:  (1) Any violation of this Chapter; . . .
31.
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-1005 requires “knowledge” by the permittee.  “Knowledge means ‘an impression of the mind, the state of being aware; . . .  Generally speaking, when it is said a person has knowledge of a given condition, it is meant that his relation to it, his association with it, his control over it and his direction of it are such as to give him actual information concerning it.’”  Underwood v. State Board of Alcoholic Control, 278 N.C. 623, 181 S.E.2d 1 (1971).  This requirement of knowledge, of awareness, does not allow for a permittee becoming willfully blind to events of which he is aware.

32.
Underwood was decided under the statutory authority that was predecessor to Chapter 18B, which likewise had the requirement of “knowledge.” The Supreme Court goes further to state in Underwood that the licensee was making “a reasonable effort in good faith” to comply with the laws and regulations.

          33.     There is no competent evidence that any employee of The Liquid Room knowingly allowed any violation of Chapter 18B of the General Statutes to occur on the licensed premises on the date in question.  Based on the foregoing, there was no competent evidence establishing that Respondent’s employee, Vincent Murphy, knew Marjorie Whitney was under 21 years of age when he sold beer to her on January 4, 201.  There was no competent evidence proving Petitioner's employee knew or should have known that Whitney was intoxicated when he sold alcoholic beverages to her on January 4, 2010.  Likewise, there was insufficient evidence establishing by a preponderance of the evidence that Petitioner's employee Murphy consumed alcohol while working at The Liquid Room.  Based on the foregoing, Respondent failed to prove any of Petitioner's employees knowingly allowed the cited violations to occur, and violated N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-1005(a)(1).

34.
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-1005(b) states:
It shall be unlawful for a permittee to fail to superintend in person or through a manager the business for which a permit is issued.  


35.
On January 4, 2010, there were few patrons at The Liquid Room during the time when Whitney was on the premises.  Murphy was working as bartender; Johnson was working as security, doorman, and manager and was supervising the premises and the events occurring on the premises.  After 11:00 pm, Mr. Mitchell assumed managerial duties and supervised the premises and the events occurring on the premises.  Respondent failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Petitioner failed to superintend the business in person or through a manager on the date in question in violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 18B-1005(b).  

36.
Respondent’s assertion that Petitioner would not comply with the ABC laws is without merit.  The record is devoid of any evidence as to what factors, standard, or process Respondent goes through to determine whether a permit application should be approved or rejected.  Other than the ALE report, there was no evidence what information Respondent considered in this case to determine that Petitioner would not comply with the ABC laws, and thus was not qualified to hold ABC permits.  

37.
The rejection of Petitioner's application for permanent permit by the ABC Commission was arbitrary and capricious, was wholly without evidentiary support, and was an abuse of discretion.  "The mere fact that [sale of alcohol to Whitney, a person under 21 years of age,] took place on the premises is no violation . . . and affords no basis for suspension or revocation of license" nor does it afford basis for rejection of Petitioner's application for permanent permit.  Underwood v. State Board of Alcoholic Control, 278 N.C. 623, 631 (1971).  "All the evidence . . . tends to show that the [permittee] was making a reasonable effort in good faith to enforce the provisions” of Chapter 18B.  Id. at 630.  
38.
Further, the preponderance of the evidence establishes as a matter of law, particularly the testimony of Agent Bissette, Supervisor Carlton, Mr. Hauser, and Mr. Mitchell, that Petitioner is suitable and qualified to hold the permit for which Petitioner has applied, and that Petitioner will comply with ABC rules and Chapter 18B.  N.C.G.S. §§ 18B-900, -901.
DECISION


Based upon the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the undersigned hereby determines that Respondent should REVERSE its decision to deny Petitioner’s permit application to hold the applied-for ABC permits, and ISSUE Petitioner the applied-for ABC permits.

NOTICE AND ORDER

 
The North Carolina Alcoholic Beverage Control Commission is the agency that will make the final decision in this contested case. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 150B-36(b), (b1), (b2), and (b3) enumerate the standard of review and procedures the agency must follow in making its Final Decision, and adopting and/or not adopting the Findings and Decision of the Administrative Law Judge.


Pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat.§ 150B-36(a), before the agency makes a Final Decision in this case, it is required to give each party and opportunity to file exceptions to this decision, and to present written arguments to those in the agency who will make the Final Decision. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 150B-36(b)(3) requires the agency to serve a copy of its Final Decision on each party, and furnish a copy of its Final Decision to each party’s attorney of record and to the Office of Administrative Hearings, 6714 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, NC 27699-6714.

This the 13th day of July, 2010.

_______________________________

Melissa Owens Lassiter

Administrative Law Judge
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